ELECTRONICS A SYSTEMS APPROACH

Jears

yaaqaaa a

o o o little

NEIL STOREY





At Pearson, we have a simple mission: to help people make more of their lives through learning.

We combine innovative learning technology with trusted content and educational expertise to provide engaging and effective learning experiences that serve people wherever and whenever they are learning.

From classroom to boardroom, our curriculum materials, digital learning tools and testing programmes help to educate millions of people worldwide – more than any other private enterprise.

Every day our work helps learning flourish, and wherever learning flourishes, so do people.

To learn more, please visit us at www.pearson.com/uk



Neil Storey



Harlow, England • London • New York • Boston • San Francisco • Toronto • Sydney Dubai • Singapore • Hong Kong • Tokyo • Seoul • Taipei • New Delhi Cape Town • São Paulo • Mexico City • Madrid • Amsterdam • Munich • Paris • Milan

PEARSON EDUCATION LIMITED

Edinburgh Gate Harlow CM20 2JE United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0)1279 623623 Web: www.pearson.com/uk

First published 1992 (print) Second published 1998 (print) Third published 2006 (print) Fourth published 2009 (print) Fifth published 2013 (print and electronic) **Sixth edition published 2017** (print and electronic)

Addison Wesley Publishers Limited 1992 (print)
 Pearson Education Limited 1998, 2006, 2009 (print)
 Pearson Education Limited 2013, 2017 (print and electronic)

The right of Neil Storey to be identified as author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

The print publication is protected by copyright. Prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, distribution or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, recording or otherwise, permission should be obtained from the publisher or, where applicable, a licence permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom should be obtained from the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Barnard's Inn, 86 Fetter Lane, London EC4A 1EN.

The ePublication is protected by copyright and must not be copied, reproduced, transferred, distributed, leased, licensed or publicly performed or used in any way except as specifically permitted in writing by the publishers, as allowed under the terms and conditions under which it was purchased, or as strictly permitted by applicable copyright law. Any unauthorised distribution or use of this text may be a direct infringement of the author's and the publisher's rights and those responsible may be liable in law accordingly.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners.

Pearson Education is not responsible for the content of third-party internet sites.

ISBN: 978-1-292-11406-4 (print) 978-1-292-11411-8 (PDF) 978-1-292-13341-6 (ePub)

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for the print edition is available from the British Library

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Storey, Neil, author. Title: Electronics : a systems approach / Neil Storey. Description: Sixth edition. | Harlow, England ; New York : Pearson, 2017. Identifiers: LCCN 2016055942| ISBN 9781292114064 (print) | ISBN 9781292133416 (ePub) | ISBN 9781292114118 (PDF) Subjects: LCSH: Electronic systems. | Electronic circuits. Classification: LCC TK7870 .S857 2017 | DDC 621.381-dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2016055942

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 21 20 19 18 17

Print edition typeset in Ehrhardt MT Pro 10/11.5pt by iEnergizer Aptara®, Ltd. Printed and bound in Malaysia

NOTE THAT ANY PAGE CROSS REFERENCES REFER TO THE PRINT EDITION

Brief Contents

Preface		xiii
List of videos		xvii
Acl	knowledgements	xix
Pa EL CC	rt 1 ECTRICAL CIRCUITS AND MPONENTS	1
1	Basic Electrical Circuits and Components	3
2	Measurement of Voltages and Currents	20
3	Resistance and DC Circuits	42
4	Capacitance and Electric Fields	69
5	Inductance and Magnetic Fields	83
6	Alternating Voltages and Currents	103
7	Power in AC Circuits	125
8	Frequency Characteristics of AC Circuits	136
9	Transient Behaviour	168
10	Electric Motors and Generators	184
Pa EL	rt 2 ECTRONIC SYSTEMS	199
11	Electronic Systems	201
12	Sensors	209
13	Actuators	230
14	Amplification	241
15	Control and Feedback	261

16 Operational Amplifiers	278
17 Semiconductors and Diodes	309
18 Field-effect Transistors	336
19 Bipolar Junction Transistors	385
20 Power Electronics	449
21 Internal Circuitry of Operational Amplifiers	475
22 Noise and Electromagnetic Compatibility	488
23 Positive Feedback, Oscillators and Stability	512
24 Digital Systems	527
25 Sequential Logic	586
26 Digital Devices	630
27 Implementing Digital Systems	688
28 Data Acquisition and Conversion	753
29 Communications	768
30 System Design	796
Appendices	
A Symbols	808
B SI units and prefixes	811

B SI units and prefixes	811
C Op-amp circuits	813
D Complex numbers	818
E Answers to selected exercises	823
Index	

This page intentionally left blank

Contents

Preface	xiii
List of videos	xvii
Acknowledgements	xix

....

Part 1 **ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS AND COMPONENTS**

1 Basic Electrical Circuits and **Components**

1.1	Introduction	
1.2	Système International units	
1.3	Common prefixes	
1.4	Electrical circuits	
1.5	Direct current and alternating current	
1.6	Resistors, capacitors and inductors	
1.7	Ohm's law	
1.8	Kirchhoff's laws	
1.9	Power dissipation in resistors	
1.10	Resistors in series	
1.11	Resistors in parallel	
1.12	Resistive potential dividers	
1.13	Sinusoidal quantities	
1.14	Circuit symbols	
Further study		
Key points		
Exercises		

2 Measurement of Voltages and **Currents**

2.1	Introduction	20
2.2	Sine waves	21
2.3	Square waves	28
2.4	Measuring voltages and currents	29
2.5	Analogue ammeters and voltmeters	30
2.6	Digital multimeters	34
2.7	Oscilloscopes	35
Furth	ner study	38
Key points		38
Exercises		39

3 R	esistance and DC Circuits	42
3.1	Introduction	42
3.2	Current and charge	42
3.3	Voltage sources	43
3.4	Current sources	44
3.5	Resistance and Ohm's law	44
3.6	Resistors in series and parallel	45
3.7	Kirchhoff's laws	47
3.8	Thévenin's theorem and Norton's	
	theorem	49
3.9	Superposition	53
3.10	Nodal analysis	56
3.11	Mesh analysis	58
3.12	Solving simultaneous circuit equations	62
3.13	Choice of techniques	62
Further study 6		
Key points 6		
Exercises 6		

4 Capacitance and Electric Fields

4.1	Introduction	69
4.2	Capacitors and capacitance	69
4.3	Capacitors and alternating voltages and	
	currents	71
4.4	The effect of a capacitor's dimensions	
	on its capacitance	72
4.5	Electric field strength and electric flux	
	density	73
4.6	Capacitors in series and in parallel	75
4.7	Relationship between voltage and	
	current in a capacitor	77
4.8	Sinusoidal voltages and currents	78
4.9	Energy stored in a charged capacitor	79
4.10	Circuit symbols	79
Furth	ner study	80
Key	points	80
Exer	cises	81

5 Inductance and Magnetic Fields 5.1 Introduction 5.2 Electromagnetism

5.3 Reluctance

viii Contents

5.4	Inductance	87
5.5	Self-inductance	88
5.6	Inductors	89
5.7	Inductors in series and in parallel	91
5.8	Relationship between voltage and	
	current in an inductor	91
5.9	Sinusoidal voltages and currents	93
5.10	Energy storage in an inductor	94
5.11	Mutual inductance	94
5.12	Transformers	96
5.13	Circuit symbols	97
5.14	The use of inductance in sensors	98
Further study		99
Key points		100
Exercises		100

6 Alternating Voltages and Currents

6.1	Introduction	103
6.2	Relationship between voltage	
	and current	104
6.3	Reactance of inductors and	
	capacitors	105
6.4	Phasor diagrams	108
6.5	Impedance	114
6.6	Complex notation	115
Furth	er study	121
Key points		121
Exercises		122

7 Power in AC Circuits

7.1	Introduction	125
7.2	Power dissipation in resistive	
	components	125
7.3	Power in capacitors	126
7.4	Power in inductors	127
7.5	Power in circuits with resistance	
	and reactance	127
7.6	Active and reactive power	129
7.7	Power factor correction	131
7.8	Three-phase systems	132
7.9	Power measurement	133
Further study		133
Key points		134
Exercises		

8 Frequency Characteristics of AC Circuits

8.1	Introduction	136
8.2	Two-port networks	136

	8.3	The decibel (dB)	138
	8.4	Frequency response	140
	8.5	A high-pass RC network	141
	8.6	A low-pass RC network	145
	8.7	A low-pass RL network	148
	8.8	A high-pass RL network	149
	8.9	A comparison of RC and RL	
		networks	150
	8.10	Bode diagrams	151
	8.11	Combining the effects of several	
		stages	152
	8.12	RLC circuits and resonance	154
	8.13	Filters	159
	8.14	Stray capacitance and	
		inductance	163
	Furth	er study	164
	Key p	points	164
Exercises		bises	165

9 Transient Behaviour 168

Introduction	168
Charging of capacitors and energising	
of inductors	168
Discharging of capacitors and	
de-energising of inductors	172
Generalised response of first-order	
systems	174
Second-order systems	179
Higher-order systems	180
ner study	180
Key points	
cises	181
	Introduction Charging of capacitors and energising of inductors Discharging of capacitors and de-energising of inductors Generalised response of first-order systems Second-order systems Higher-order systems er study points cises

10 Electric Motors and Generators

10.1	Introduction	184
10.2	A simple AC generator	184
10.3	A simple DC generator	186
10.4	DC generators or dynamos	188
10.5	AC generators or alternators	189
10.6	DC motors	190
10.7	AC motors	191
10.8	Universal motors	193
10.9	Stepper motors	193
10.10	Electrical machines –	
	a summary	195
Furthe	er study	196
Key points		196
Exercises		196

Part 2 ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS 199

11 Electronic Systems

11.1	Introduction	201
11.2	A systems approach to engineering	202
11.3	Systems	202
11.4	System inputs and outputs	203
11.5	Physical quantities and electrical	
	signals	204
11.6	System block diagrams	206
Further study		207
Key points		208
Exercises		208

12 Sensors

12.1	Introduction	209
12.2	Describing sensor performance	210
12.3	Temperature sensors	212
12.4	Light sensors	213
12.5	Force sensors	216
12.6	Displacement sensors	217
12.7	Motion sensors	222
12.8	Sound sensors	223
12.9	Sensor interfacing	224
12.10	Sensors – a summary	227
Furthe	r study	227
Key points		228
Exercises		228

13 Actuators

13.1	Introduction	230
13.2	Heat actuators	230
13.3	Light actuators	231
13.4	Force, displacement and motion	
	actuators	233
13.5	Sound actuators	235
13.6	Actuator interfacing	236
13.7	Actuators – a summary	237
Furthe	er study	239
Key p	oints	239
Exerc	ises	239
14 A	Amplification	241

14 Amplification 14.1 Introduction 14.2 Electronic amplifiers 14.3 Sources and loads 14.4 Equivalent circuit of an amplifier

14.5	Output power	250
14.6	Power gain	253
14.7	Frequency response and bandwidth	254
14.8	Differential amplifiers	255
14.9	Simple amplifiers	257
Furthe	r study	258
Key points		258
Exercises		259

15 Control and Feedback 261

15.1	Introduction	261
15.2	Open-loop and closed-loop	
	systems	262
15.3	Automatic control systems	263
15.4	Feedback systems	265
15.5	Negative feedback	267
15.6	The effects of negative feedback	271
15.7	Negative feedback – a summary	274
Further study		274
Key points		275
Exercises		275

16 Operational Amplifiers

16.1	Introduction	278
16.2	An ideal operational amplifier	280
16.3	Some basic operational amplifier	
	circuits	280
16.4	Some other useful circuits	285
16.5	Real operational amplifiers	294
16.6	Selecting component values for	
	op-amp circuits	298
16.7	The effects of feedback on op-amp	
	circuits	299
Further study		302
Key points		303
Exercises		304

17 Semiconductors and Diodes 309

17.1	Introduction	309
17.2	Electrical properties of solids	309
17.3	Semiconductors	310
17.4	<i>pn</i> junctions	312
17.5	Diodes	315
17.6	Semiconductor diodes	316
17.7	Special-purpose diodes	324
17.8	Diode circuits	328
Furthe	r study	333
Key po	pints	333
Exerci	ses	334

x Contents

18 Field-effect Transistors

18.1	Introduction	336
18.2	An overview of field-effect transistors	336
18.3	Insulated-gate field-effect transistors	338
18.4	Junction-gate field-effect transistors	340
18.5	FET characteristics	342
18.6	FET amplifiers	350
18.7	Other FET applications	372
18.8	FET circuit examples	378
Further study		381
Key points		381
Exerci	ses	382
19 B	polar Junction Transistors	385
10.1	Introduction	385
13.1		365

19.2	An overview of bipolar transistors	385
19.3	Bipolar transistor operation	387
19.4	A simple amplifier	390
19.5	Bipolar transistor characteristics	391
19.6	Bipolar amplifier circuits	400
19.7	Bipolar transistor applications	437
19.8	Circuit examples	440
Further study		442
Key points		443
Exercises		444

20 Power Electronics

20.1	Introduction 44		
20.2	Bipolar transistor power		
	amplifiers	450	
20.3	Classes of amplifier	453	
20.4	4 Power amplifiers		
20.5	Four-layer devices		
20.6	Power supplies and voltage		
	regulators	466	
Further study		471	
Key points		471	
Exercises		472	

21 Internal Circuitry of Operational Amplifiers 21.1 Introduction

21.1	.1 Introduction		
21.2	Bipolar operational amplifiers	476	
21.3	21.3 CMOS operational amplifiers		
21.4 BiFET operational amplifiers		485	
21.5	485		
Further study		486	
Key points		486	
Exercises		486	

33622 Noise and Electromagnetic336Compatibility

22.1	Introduction	488
22.2	Noise sources	489
22.3	Representing noise sources within	
	equivalent circuits	492
22.4	Noise in bipolar transistors	493
22.5	Noise in FETs	493
22.6	Signal-to-noise ratio	493
22.7	Noise figure	494
22.8	Designing for low-noise applications	495
22.9	Electromagnetic compatibility	496
22.10	Designing for EMC	501
Further study		510
Key points		510
Exercises		511

23 Positive Feedback, Oscillators and Stability

	-	
23.1	Introduction	512
23.2	23.2 Oscillators	
23.3	3.3 Stability	
Further study		524
Key points		524
Exercises		524

24 Digital Systems

24.1 Introduction 52			
24.2	Binary quantities and variables		
24.3	Logic gates	531	
24.4	Boolean algebra	535	
24.5	Combinational logic	537	
24.6	Boolean algebraic manipulation	542	
24.7	Algebraic simplification	545	
24.8	Karnaugh maps	547	
24.9	Automated methods of minimisation	554	
24.10	Propagation delay and hazards	555	
24.11	Number systems and binary		
	arithmetic	557	
24.12	Numeric and alphabetic codes	568	
24.13 Examples of combinational logic			
	design	574	
Further study		580	
Key points		581	
Exercises		582	
25 Sequential Logic 586			

25 Sequential Logic		586
25.1	Introduction	586
25.2	Bistables	587

25.3	Monostables or one-shots	597		
25.4	Astables	598		
25.5	Timers	600		
25.6	Memory registers	602		
25.7	Shift registers 600			
25.8	Counters 606			
25.9	Design of sequential logic			
	circuits	614		
Furthe	er study	625		
Key points		626		
Exercises		627		

630

26 Digital Devices

26.1	Introduction	
26.2	Gate characteristics	
26.3	Logic families	638
26.4	TTL	648
26.5	CMOS	659
26.6	Interfacing TTL and CMOS or logic	
	using different supply voltages	673
26.7	Power dissipation in digital	
	systems	675
26.8	Noise and EMC in digital systems	677
Further study		683
Key points		683
Exercises		684

27 Implementing Digital Systems 688

27.1	Introduction	688	
27.2	Array logic	689	
27.3	Microprocessors	709	
27.4	System-on-a-chip (SOC) devices	744	
27.5	Programmable logic controllers		
	(PLCs)	744	
27.6	6 Single-board computers		
	and microcontrollers	745	
27.7	7.7 Selecting an implementation		
	method	749	
Furthe	r study	749	
Key points		750	
Exercises		751	

28 Data Acquisition and Conversion 753 28.1 Introduction 753 28.2 Sampling 753 28.3 Signal reconstruction 755 28.4 Data converters 755 28.5 Sample and hold gates 762 28.6 Multiplexing 763 Further study 766 Key points 766 Exercises 766 **29 Communications** 768 29.1 Introduction 768 29.2 The communications channel 770 29.3 Modulation 773 29.4 Demodulation 787 29.5 Multiplexing 787 29.6 Radio receivers 788 29.7 Microwave communication 790 792 29.8 Fibre-optic communication 793 Further study Key points 794 Exercises 794 30 System Design 796 30.1 796 Introduction 30.2 Design methodology 796 30.3 Choice of technology 798 30.4 Electronic design tools 802 806 Further study Key points 806 Exercises 807 **Appendices** A Symbols 808 B SI units and prefixes 811 C Op-amp circuits 813 D Complex numbers 818

- E Answers to selected exercises 823
- Index 826

Companion Website

For open-access **student resources** specifically written to complement this textbook and support your learning, please visit **www.pearsoned.co.uk/storey-elec**



This page intentionally left blank

Preface

Electronics represents one of the most important, and rapidly changing, areas of engineering. It is used at the heart of a vast range of products that extends from mobile phones to computers, and from cars to nuclear power stations. For this reason, *all* engineers, scientists and technologists need a basic understanding of such systems, while many will require a far more detailed knowledge of this area.

When the first edition of this text was published it represented a very novel approach to the teaching of electronics. At that time most texts adopted a decidedly 'bottom-up' approach to the subject, starting by looking at semiconductor materials and working their way through diodes and transistors before eventually, several chapters later, looking at the uses of the circuits being considered. *Electronics: A Systems Approach* pioneered a new, 'top-down' approach to the teaching of electronics by explaining the uses and required characteristics of circuits, before embarking on detailed analysis. This aids comprehension and makes the process of learning much more interesting.

One of the great misconceptions concerning this approach is that it is in some way less rigorous in its treatment of the subject. A top-down approach does *not* define the depth to which a subject is studied but only the order and manner in which the material is presented. Many students *will* need to look in detail at the operation of electronic components and understand the physics of its materials; however, this will be more easily absorbed if the characteristics and uses of the components are understood first.

A great benefit of a top-down approach is that it makes the text more accessible for *all* its potential readers. For those who intend to specialise in electronic engineering the material is presented in a way that makes it easy to absorb, providing an excellent grounding for further study. For those intending to specialise in other areas of engineering or science, the order of presentation allows them to gain a good grounding in the *basics*, and to progress into the *detail* only as far as is appropriate for their needs.

While a top-down approach offers a very accessible route to understanding electronics, it is much more effective if one starts with a thorough understanding of the basic components used in such circuits. Some readers of this text will already be familiar with this material from previous study, while others will have little or no knowledge of such topics. For this reason, the book is divided into two parts. Part 1 provides an introduction to **Electrical Circuits and Components** and makes very few assumptions about prior knowledge. This section gives a gentle and well-structured introduction to this area, and readers can select from the various topics depending on their needs and interests. Part 2 then provides a thorough introduction to **Electronic Systems**, adopting the well-tried, top-down approach for which this text is renowned. The text therefore provides a comprehensive introduction to both Electrical and Electronic Engineering, making it appropriate for a wide range of first-level courses in areas such as **Electronic Engineering**. **Electrical Engineering** and **Electrical and Electronic Engineering**.

New in this edition

This sixth edition gives an opportunity to enhance the treatment of several key topics and also to update the text in several areas that are undergoing rapid change.

- A new section on single-board computers, including an overview of devices such as the Raspberry Pi[®] and the Arduino[®].
- A new section on microwave communication, outlining its characteristics and applications.
- A new section on **fibre-optic communication**, which looks at the nature of optical fibres, and how they are used in a range of situations.
- An expansion of the chapters on sensors and actuators, to include additional material on image sensors and the devices used in fibre-optic communications.
- An expanded range of end of chapter exercises, to help readers to more effectively assess their understanding of the material.
- A number of additional video tutorials which not only help students to understand the material in the text, but also enable them to see how the various techniques can be applied in real world situations.

Video Tutorials

A major feature of the text is the provision of over a hundred supporting videos. These provide tutorial support for topics throughout the text and also aim to provide guidance and encourage creativity within the various 'further study' exercises. These videos are *not* hour-long 'lectures' covering broad-ranging themes, but are short, succinct tutorials, lasting only a few minutes, that describe in detail various aspects of design or analysis.

Accessing the tutorials couldn't be easier. Icons of the form shown on the left are placed throughout the text to indicate the topics covered. If you are using a paper copy of the text, simply scan the QR code in the icon with your phone or laptop to go straight to the video. If you are using an e-book it's even easier, as the icon contains a direct link to the video. Alternatively, you can go to the companion website (see below) which gives a full list of all the videos available and provides direct access.

Who should read this text

This text is intended for undergraduate students in all fields of engineering and science. For students of electronics or electrical engineering it provides a first-level introduction to electronics that will give a sound basis for further study. For students of other disciplines it includes most of the electronics material that they will need throughout their course.

Assumed knowledge

The book assumes very little by way of prior knowledge, except for an understanding of the basic principles of physics and mathematics.



Companion website

The text is supported by a comprehensive companion website that will greatly increase both your understanding and your enjoyment. The site contains a range of support material, including computer-marked self-assessment exercises for each chapter. These exercises not only give you instant feedback on your understanding of the material, but also give useful guidance on areas of difficulty. The website also gives easy access to the numerous video tutorials mentioned above. To visit the site, go to www.pearsoned.co.uk/storey-elec.

To the instructor

A comprehensive set of online support material is available for instructors using this text as course reading. This includes a set of editable **PowerPoint slides** to aid in the preparation of lectures, plus an **Instructor's Manual** that gives **fully worked solutions** to all the numerical problems and **sample answers** for the various non-numerical exercises. Guidance is also given on **course preparation** and on the selection of topics to meet the needs of students with different backgrounds and interests. This material, together with the various online study aids and self-assessment tests, should greatly assist both the instructor and the student to gain maximum benefit from courses based on this text. Instructors adopting this text should visit the companion website at www.pearsoned.co.uk/storey-elec for details of how to gain access to the secure website that holds the instructor's support material.

This page intentionally left blank

List of Videos

- 0 An introduction to video tutorials
- 1A Kirchhoff's current and voltage laws
- 1B Potential dividers
- 1C Design of a resistive circuit
- 2A Sine waves
- 2B Triangular waves
- 2C Power measurement with alternating signals
- 3A Kirchhoff's laws
- 3B Nodal analysis
- 3C Mesh analysis
- 3D Selecting circuit analysis techniques
- 4A Capacitors in series and in parallel
- 4B Energy storage in parallel capacitors
- 5A Transformers
- 5B Applications of inductive sensors
- 6A Alternating voltages and currents
- 6B Using complex impedance
- 7A Power in circuits with resistance and reactance
- 7B Power factor correction for an electric motor
- 8A Bode diagrams
- 8B Design of a radio frequency filter
- 9A Initial and final value theorems
- 9B Determination of a circuit's time constant
- 10A Selection of a motor for a given application
- 11A Top-down system design
- 11B System inputs and outputs
- 11C Identification of system inputs and outputs
- 12A Optical position sensors
- 12B Selecting a sensor for a given application
- 13A A comparison of display techniques
- 13B Selecting an actuator for a given application
- 14A Amplification
- 14B Modelling the characteristics of an amplifier
- 14C Power gain
- 14D Differential amplifiers
- 14E Specifying an audio amplifier

- 15A Feedback systems
- 15B Negative feedback
- 15C Open-loop and closed-loop systems
- 16A Basic op-amp circuits
- 16B Some additional useful op-amp circuits
- 16C Frequency response of op-amp circuits
- 16D Input and output resistance of op-amp circuits
- 16E Analysis of op-amp circuits
- 17A Diodes as rectifiers
- 17B A signal rectifier
- 17C A mains operated power supply
- 18A Simple FET amplifiers
- 18B Small signal equivalent circuit of an FET amplifier
- 18C A negative feedback amplifier based on a DE MOSFET
- 18D Examples of FET Applications
- 18E A switchable gain amplifier
- 19A A simple bipolar transistor amplifier
- 19B Analysis of a simple bipolar transistor amplifier
- 19C Analysis of a feedback amplifier based on a bipolar transistor
- 19D A common collector amplifier
- 19E Design of a phase splitter
- 20A Push-pull amplifiers
- 20B Amplifier classes
- 20C Power amplifiers
- 20D Design of an electrically operated switch
- 21A Simplified circuit of a bipolar operational amplifier
- 21B Simplified circuit of a CMOS operational amplifier
- 21C Circuit of a 741 operational amplifier
- 22A Noise in electronic systems
- 22B Electro-magnetic compatibility (EMC)
- 22C EMC issues in a car
- 23A Simple sine wave oscillator circuits
- 23B Digital oscillators
- 23C An amplitude stabilised sine wave oscillator

- 24A Binary quantities and variables
- 24B Logic gates
- 24C Combinational logic
- 24D Boolean algebraic simplification
- 24E Karnaugh maps
- 24F Binary arithmetic
- 24G Numeric and alphabetic codes
- 24H A binary voting arrangement for a fault tolerant system
- 25A Sequential logic
- 25B Shift registers
- 25C Simple counters
- 25D A digital stop watch
- 26A Transistors as switches
- 26B Logic families
- 26C Transistor-transistor logic (TTL)
- 26D Complementary metal oxide semiconductor logic (CMOS)
- 26E Implementing complex gates in CMOS
- 26F Interfacing logic gates of different families
- 26G Power dissipation in digital systems
- 26H Tackling noise-related problems in industrial systems

- 27A Implementing digital systems
- 27B Programmable logic array (PLA)
- 27C Programmable array logic (PAL)
- 27D Complex array logic
- 27E Microcomputer systems
- 27F Describing memory capacity
- 27G Input/output techniques
- 27H Interrupt driven input/output
- 27J Single-board computers and microcontrollers
- 27K Motor control in a washing machine
- 28A Sampling
- 28B Digital-to-analogue conversion
- 28C Multiplexing
- 28D Data acquisition and conversion in a smartphone
- 29A Communications systems
- 29B Analogue modulation
- 29C Digital and pulse modulation
- 29D Radio receivers
- 29E High frequency communications
- 29F A TV remote control
- 30A Design methodology
- 30B A control system for a robotic arm

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to the various people who have assisted in the preparation of this text. In particular I would like to thank my colleagues at the University of Warwick who have provided useful feedback and ideas.

I would also like to thank the companies who have given permission to reproduce their material: RS Components for the photographs in Figures 2.14, 10.15, 12.2(a) and (b), 12.3(a) and (b), 12.4, 12.5(a) and (b), 12.8, 12.9, 12.11(a) and (b), 12.14, 13.1, 13.3, 13.4 and 13.5; Farnell Electronic Components Limited for the photographs in Figures 2.12; Texas Instruments for Figures 21.4(a) and (b), 21.6, 21.7(a) and (b), 26.22, 26.34; Lattice Semiconductor Corporation for Figures 27.11, 27.12, 27.13; Anachip Corporation for Figure 27.14; Microchip Technology for Figures 27.41 and 27.42. Certain materials herein are reprinted with the permission of Microchip Technology Incorporated. No further reprints or reproductions may be made of said materials without Microchip Technology Inc.'s prior written consent. Photos on pages 17, 34, 36, 38, 63, 80, 99, 121, 133, 164, 180, 196, 207, 215, 216 (Figure 12.7 (b)), 227, 232, 239, 258, 274, 279, 302, 333, 381, 442, 471, 486, 524, 580, 625, 683, 735, 746, 747, 748 749, 766, 791 and 793 courtesy of Shutterstock; photos on page 216 (Figure 12.7 (a)), and 806 courtesy of Fotolia; photo on page 510 courtesy of Jaguar Land Rover Limited.

Finally, I would like to give special thanks to my family for their help and support during the writing of this text. In particular I wish to thank my wife Jillian for her never-failing encouragement and understanding.

Trademarks

Tri-state is a trademark of the National Semiconductor Corporation.
PAL is a trademark of Lattice Semiconductor Corporation.
PEEL is a registered trademark of International CMOS Technology.
PIC is a registered trademark of Microchip Technology Inc.
SPI is a registered trademark of Motorola Inc.
I²C is a registered trademark of Philips Semiconductors Corporation.
PSpice is a trademark of Cadence Design Systems, Inc.
Multisim is a registered trademark of National Instruments Corporation.
Lin CMOS is a trademark of Texas Instruments Incorporated.
Kevlar is a trademark of E. I. de Pont de Nemours and Company.
Raspberry Pi is a trademark of the Raspberry Pi Foundation.
Arduino is a trademark of Arduino L.L.C.

Publisher's Acknowledgements

Picture Credits

The publisher would like to thank the following for their kind permission to reproduce their photographs:

(Key: b-bottom; c-centre; l-left; r-right; t-top)

Farnell Electronic Components Limited: Farnell Electronic Components Limited 33; Fotolia.com: Xuejun li 216l; Jaguar Land Rover Limited: 510tr; RS Components: 212bl, 212br, 213tl, 213tr, 214tl, 214tr, 214c, 216b, 218, 219l, 219r, 220, 231, 233, 234, 235c, 212bl, 212br, 213tl, 213tr, 214tl, 214tr, 214c, 216b, 218, 219l, 219r, 220, 231, 233, 234, 235c, RS Components 35, 194; Shutterstock.com: AJancso 227, BonD80 333, brumhildich 683l, Gary James Calder 791bc, Coprid 232c, Istvan Csak 279, elmm 442, ALEXEY FILATOV 36, FooTToo 791r, goodcat 746, 747, Jennifer Gottschalk 625, grafvision 63, Maksim Kabakou 766tr, Dmitry Kalinovsky 302, Georgios Kollidas 38r, Yury Kosourov 133r, Vasiliy Koval 17r, Tuomas Lehtinen and Kozini 735c, Volodymyr Krasyuk 34, 239, Mircea Maties 99r, nikkytok 274, oksana2010 80, IB Photography 793, J and S Photography 121, MO_SES Premium 580cr, Sashkin 209br, Scanraill 683r, Roman Sotola 524tr, Nomad_Soul 381, SStiling 215b, Stocksnapper 99l, Artur Synenko 258tr, Kheng Guan Toh 471, valdis torms 164r, vilax 749bl (Further study), welcomia 216r, windu 196, Yatra 791l; The Raspberry Pi Foundation: 748.

Cover images: Front: Shutterstock.com: apdesign

All other images © Pearson Education

ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS AND COMPONENTS

Part 1

1	Basic Electrical Circuits and Components	3
2	Measurement of Voltages and Currents	20
3	Resistance and DC Circuits	42
4	Capacitance and Electric Fields	69
5	Inductance and Magnetic Fields	83
6	Alternating Voltages and Currents	103
7	Power in AC Circuits	125
8	Frequency Characteristics of AC Circuits	136
9	Transient Behaviour	168
0	Electric Motors and Generators	184

This page intentionally left blank

Basic Electrical Circuits and Components

Objectives

Chapter 1

When you have studied the material in this chapter, you should be able to:

- sive the Système International (SI) units for a range of electrical quantities
- use a range of common prefixes to represent multiples of these units
- describe the basic characteristics of resistors, capacitors and inductors
- apply Ohm's law, and Kirchhoff's voltage and current laws, to simple electrical circuits
- calculate the effective resistance of resistors in series or in parallel, and analyse simple resistive potential divider circuits
- define the terms 'frequency' and 'period' as they apply to sinusoidal quantities
- draw the circuit symbols for a range of common electrical components.

1.1 Introduction

While the title of this text refers to 'electronic systems', this first part refers to 'electrical circuits and components' and it is perhaps appropriate to start by explaining what is meant by the terms 'electronic' and 'electrical' in this context. Both terms relate to the use of electrical energy, but *electrical* is often used to refer to circuits that use only simple passive components such as resistors, capacitors and inductors, while the term *electronic* implies circuits that also use more sophisticated components such as transistors or integrated circuits. Therefore, before looking in detail at the operation of electronic systems, we need to have a basic understanding of the world of electrical engineering, as the components and circuits of this domain also form the basis of more sophisticated electronic applications.

Unfortunately, while this use of the words electrical and electronic is common, it is not universal. Engineers sometimes use the term *electrical* when describing applications associated with the generation, transmission or use of large amounts of electrical energy, and use *electronic* when describing applications associated with smaller amounts of power, where the electrical energy is used to convey information rather than as a source of power. For this reason, within this text we will be fairly liberal with our use of the two terms, because much of the material covered is relevant to all forms of electrical and electronic systems.

Most readers will have met the basic concepts of electrical circuits long before embarking on study at this level, and later chapters will assume that you are familiar with this elementary material. In the chapters that follow we will look at these basic concepts in more detail and extend them to give a greater understanding of the behaviour of the circuits and systems that we will be studying. However, it is essential that you are familiar with some elementary material before continuing.

The list below gives an indication of the topics that you should be familiar with before reading the following chapters:

- The Système International (SI) units for quantities such as energy, power, temperature, frequency, charge, potential, resistance, capacitance and inductance. You should also know the symbols used for these units.
- The prefixes used to represent common multiples of these units and their symbols (for example, 1 kilometre = 1 km = 1000 metres).
- Electrical circuits and quantities such as charge, e.m.f. and potential difference.
- Direct and alternating currents.
- The basic characteristics of resistors, capacitors and inductors.
- Ohm's law, Kirchhoff's laws and power dissipation in resistors.
- The effective resistance of resistors in series and parallel.
- The operation of resistive potential dividers.
- The terms used to describe sinusoidal quantities.
- The circuit symbols used for resistors, capacitors, inductors, voltage sources and other common components.

If, having read through the list above, you feel confident that you are familiar with all these topics, you could move on immediately to Chapter 2. However, just in case there are a few areas that might need some reinforcement, the remainder of this chapter provides what might be seen as a *revision* section on this material. This does not aim to give a detailed treatment of these topics (where appropriate this will be given in later chapters) but simply explains them in sufficient detail to allow an understanding of the early parts of the text.

In this chapter, worked examples are used to illustrate several of the concepts involved. One way of assessing your understanding of the various topics is to look quickly through these examples to see if you can perform the calculations involved, before looking at the worked solutions. Most readers will find the early examples trivial, but experience shows that many will feel less confident about some of the later topics, such as those related to **potential dividers**. These are very important topics, and a clear understanding of these circuits will make it much easier to understand the remainder of the book.

The exercises at the end of this chapter are included to allow you to test your understanding of the 'assumed knowledge' listed above. If you can perform these exercises easily you should have no problems with the technical content of the next few chapters. If not, you would be well advised to invest a little time in looking at the relevant sections of this chapter before continuing.

1.2 Système International units

The Système International (SI) d'Unités (International System of Units) defines units for a large number of physical quantities but, fortunately for our current studies, we need very few of them. These are shown in Table 1.1. In later chapters we will introduce additional units as necessary, and Appendix B gives a more comprehensive list of units relevant to electrical and electronic engineering.

Quantity	Quantity symbol	Unit	Unit symbol
Capacitance	С	farad	F
Charge	Q	coulomb	С
Current	Ĩ	ampere	А
Electromotive force	Ε	volt	\mathbf{V}
Frequency	f	hertz	Hz
Inductance (self)	Ĺ	henry	Н
Period	Т	second	s
Potential difference	V	volt	V
Power	Р	watt	W
Resistance	R	ohm	Ω
Temperature	Т	kelvin	K
Time	t	second	s

Table 1.1 Some important units.

1.3 Common prefixes

Table 1.2 lists the most commonly used unit prefixes. These will suffice for most purposes although a more extensive list is given in Appendix B.

Prefix	Name	Meaning (multiply by)
Т	tera	10 ¹²
G	giga	10^{9}
М	mega	10^{6}
k	kilo	10 ³
m	milli	10^{-3}
μ	micro	10^{-6}
n	nano	10^{-9}
р	pico	10^{-12}

 Table 1.2 Common unit prefixes.

1.4 Electrical circuits

1.4.1 Electric charge

Charge is an amount of electrical energy and can be either positive or negative. In atoms, protons have a positive charge and electrons have an equal negative charge. While protons are fixed within the atomic nucleus, electrons are often weakly bound and may therefore be able to move. If a body or region develops an excess of electrons it will have an overall negative charge, while a region with a deficit of electrons will have a positive charge.

1.4.2 Electric current

An electric current is a flow of electric charge, which in most cases is a flow of electrons. Conventional current is defined as a flow of electricity from a positive to a negative region. This conventional current is in the opposite direction to the flow of the negatively charged electrons. The unit of current is the ampere or amp (A).

1.4.3 Current flow in a circuit

A sustained electric current requires a complete circuit for the recirculation of electrons. It also requires some stimulus to cause the electrons to flow around this circuit.

1.4.4 Electromotive force and potential difference

The stimulus that causes an electric current to flow around a circuit is termed an electromotive force or e.m.f. The e.m.f. represents the energy introduced into the circuit by a source such as a battery or a generator. The circuit or component in which the current is induced is sometimes called a load.

All real loads will oppose the flow of current to some extent, and the magnitude of this opposition is termed its resistance. The source must do work to drive a current through the resistive load, and therefore during this process energy is transferred from the source to the load.

The energy transferred from the source to the load results in a change in the electrical potential at each point in the load. Between any two points in the load there will exist a certain potential difference, which represents the energy associated with the passage of a unit of charge from one point to the other.

Both e.m.f. and potential difference are expressed in units of volts, and clearly these two quantities are related. Figure 1.1 illustrates the relationship between them: an e.m.f. is a quantity that produces an electric current, while a potential difference is the effect on the circuit of this passage of energy.



If you have difficulty visualising an e.m.f., a potential difference, a resistance or a current, you may find it helpful to use an analogy. Consider, for example, the arrangement shown in Figure 1.2. Here a water pump forces water to flow around a series of pipes and through some form of restriction. While no analogy is perfect, this model illustrates the basic properties of the circuit of Figure 1.1. In the water-based diagram, the *water pump* forces water around the arrangement and is equivalent to the *voltage*





source (or battery), which pushes electric charge around the corresponding electrical circuit. The flow of water through the pipe corresponds to the flow of charge around the circuit and therefore the *flow rate* represents the *current* in the circuit. The *restric*tion within the pipe opposes the flow of water and is equivalent to the resistance of the electrical circuit. As water flows through the restriction the pressure will fall, creating a pressure difference across it. This is equivalent to the potential difference across the resistance within the electrical circuit. The flow rate of the water will increase with the output pressure of the pump and decrease with the level of restriction present. This is analogous to the behaviour of the electrical circuit, where the current increases with the e.m.f. of the voltage source and decreases with the magnitude of the resistance.

1.4.5 Voltage reference points

Electromotive forces and potential differences in circuits produce different potentials (or voltages) at different points in the circuit. It is normal to describe the voltages throughout a circuit by giving the potential at particular points with respect to a single reference point. This reference is often called the ground or earth of the circuit. Since voltages at points in the circuit are measured with respect to ground, it follows that the voltage on the ground itself is zero. Therefore, the ground is also called the zero-volts line of the circuit.

In a circuit, a particular point or junction may be taken as the zero-volt reference and this may then be labelled as 0V, as shown in Figure 1.3(a). Alternatively, the ground point of the circuit may be indicated using the ground symbol, as shown in Figure 1.3(b).



Figure 1.3 Indicating voltage reference points.

1.4.6 Representing voltages in circuit diagrams

Conventions for representing voltages in circuit diagrams vary considerably between countries. In the United Kingdom, and in this text, it is common to indicate a potential difference using an arrow, which is taken to represent the voltage at the head of the arrow with respect to that at the tail. This is illustrated in Figure 1.4(a). In many cases, the tail of the arrow will correspond to the zero-volt line of the circuit (as shown in V_A



Figure 1.4 Indicating voltages in circuit diagrams.

in the figure). However, it can indicate a voltage difference between any two points in the circuit (as shown by V_B).

In some cases, it is inconvenient to use arrows to indicate voltages in circuits and simple labels are used instead, as shown in Figure 1.4(b). Here the labels V_c and V_D represent the voltage at the corresponding points *with respect to ground* (that is, with respect to the zero-volt reference).

1.4.7 Representing currents in circuit diagrams

Currents in circuit diagrams are conventionally indicated by an arrow in the direction of the *conventional* current flow (that is, in the opposite direction to the flow of electrons). This was illustrated in Figure 1.1. This figure also shows that for positive voltages and currents the arrow for the current flowing out of a voltage source is in the *same direction* as the arrow representing its e.m.f. However, the arrow representing the current in a resistor is in the *opposite direction* to the arrow representing the potential difference across it.

1.5 Direct current and alternating current

The currents associated with electrical circuits may be constant or may vary with time. Where currents vary with time they may also be unidirectional or alternating.

When the current in a conductor always flows in the same direction this is described as a direct current (DC). Such currents will often be associated with voltages of a single polarity. Where the direction of the current periodically changes, this is referred to as alternating current (AC), and such currents will often be associated with alternating voltages. One of the most common forms of alternating waveform is the sine wave, as discussed in Section 1.13.

1.6 Resistors, capacitors and inductors

1.6.1 Resistors

Resistors are components whose main characteristic is that they provide resistance between their two electrical terminals. The **resistance** of a circuit represents its opposition to the flow of electric current. The unit of resistance is the **ohm** (Ω). One may also define the **conductance** of a circuit as its ability to *allow* the flow of electricity. The conductance of a circuit is equal to the reciprocal of its resistance and is measured in **siemens** (**S**). We will look at resistance in some detail later in the text (see Chapter 3).

1.6.2 Capacitors

Capacitors are components whose main characteristic is that they exhibit capacitance between their two terminals. **Capacitance** is a property of two conductors that are electrically insulated from each other, whereby electrical energy is stored when a potential difference exists between them. This energy is stored in an electric field that is created between the two conductors. Capacitance is measured in **farads** (F), and we will return to look at capacitance in more detail later in the text (see Chapter 4).

1.6.3 Inductors

Inductors are components whose main characteristic is that they exhibit inductance between their two terminals. **Inductance** is the property of a coil that results in an

e.m.f. being induced in the coil as a result of a change in the current in the coil. Like capacitors, inductors can store electrical energy and in this case it is stored in a magnetic field. The unit of inductance is the henry (H), and we will look at inductance later in the text (see Chapter 5).

1.7 Ohm's law

Ohm's law states that the current I flowing in a conductor is directly proportional to the applied voltage V and inversely proportional to its resistance R. This determines the relationship between the units for current, voltage and resistance, and the **ohm** is defined as the resistance of a circuit in which a current of 1 **amp** produces a potential difference of 1 **volt**.

The relationship between voltage, current and resistance can be represented in a number of ways, including:

$$V = IR \tag{1.1}$$

$$I = \frac{V}{R} \tag{1.2}$$

$$R = \frac{V}{I} \tag{1.3}$$

A simple way of remembering these three equations is to use the 'virtual triangle' of Figure 1.5. The triangle is referred to as 'virtual' simply as a way of remembering the order of the letters. Taking the first three letters of VIRtual and writing them in a triangle (starting at the top) gives the arrangement shown in the figure. If you place your finger on one of the letters, the remaining two show the expression for the selected quantity. For example, to find the expression for 'V' put your finger on the V and you see I next to R, so V = IR. Alternatively, to find the expression for 'I' put your finger on the I and you are left with V above R, so I = V/R. Similarly, covering 'R' leaves V over I, so R = V/I.

Example 1.1







The relationship between *V*, *I* and *R*.